
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Kent County Council 
 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
 

Monday, 1st December, 2025, at 10.00 am Ask for: Hayley Savage 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone 

Telephone 03000 414286 

   
 

Membership  
 
Mrs B Porter (Vice-Chairman in the Chair), Mr T Mole, Mr M Paul, Mr C Sefton and 
Mr D Sian 
 

 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 
  
1. Apologies and Substitutes  
 
2. Declarations of Interest for items on the agenda  
 
3. Application to register land on the south side of Quantock Drive at Ashford as a 

new Town or Village Green (Pages 1 - 18) 
 
4. Application to register land at Trilby Way at Whitstable as a new Town or Village 

Green (Pages 19 - 26) 
 
5. Application to register land at Duncan Down at Whitstable as a new Town or 

Village Green (Pages 27 - 36) 
 
6. Other items which the Chairman decides are urgent  
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

 



Benjamin Watts 
Deputy Chief Executive  
03000 416814 
 
Friday, 21 November 2025 
 
 



  
 

Application to register land on the south side  
of Quantock Drive at Ashford 

 
 
A report by the Head of PROW and Access Service to Kent County Council’s 
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Monday 1st December 2025. 
 
Recommendation: I recommend that a Public Inquiry be held into the case to 
clarify the issues 
 
 
Local Member: Ms. P. Williams     Unrestricted item 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The County Council has received an application (“the Application”) to register an 

area of land on the south side of Quantock Drive at Ashford as a new Town or 
Village Green from Mr. P. Bartlett (“the Applicant”). The Application, made on 4th 
March 2025, was allocated the application number VGA700. 
 

2. It is to be noted that the current application is not to be confused with a previous 
application made in 2022 in respect of land to the north of Quantock Drive, which 
was successful and resulted in the registration of that land as a Village Green with 
reference number VG296. 

 
Procedure 
 
3. The Application has been made under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 (“the 

2006 Act”) and the Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2014 (“the 2014 
Regulations”). 

 
4. Section 15 of the 2006 Act enables any person to apply to a Commons 

Registration Authority to register land as a Village Green where it can be shown 
that: 

‘a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years’ 

  
5. In addition to the above, the application must meet one of the following tests: 

• Use of the land has continued ‘as of right’ until at least the date of 
application (section 15(2) of the Act); or 
• Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended no more than one year prior to the 
date of application, e.g. by way of the erection of fencing or a notice (section 
15(3) of the Act). 

 
6. As a standard procedure set out in the 2014 Regulations, the County Council 

must publicise the application by way of a copy of the notice on the County 
Council’s website and by placing copies of the notice on site to provide local 
people with the opportunity to comment on the application. Copies of that notice 
must also be served on any landowner(s) (where they can be reasonably 
identified) as well as the relevant local authorities. The publicity must state a 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



  
 

period of at least six weeks during which objections and representations can be 
made. 

 
The application site 
 
7. The land subject to the Application (“the Application Site”) consists primarily of an 

area of grassed open space of approximately a quarter of an acre (0.1 hectare) 
situated opposite properties 75 to 91 Quantock Drive. Access to the land is via 
the footway of Quantock Drive which abuts the northern side of the application 
site, and a tarmac path fronting the properties and abutting the eastern edge of 
the application site. 

 
8. The Application Site is shown in more detail on the plan at Appendix A. 

Photographs of the site (taken in early June 2025) are attached at Appendix B. 
 
9. Members should be aware – for information only – that the entirety of the 

Application Site was fenced off utilising Heras fencing on 27th June 2025 (shortly 
after advertisement of the Village Green application). However, that enclosure 
took place after the Village Green application was made, and has no bearing 
upon the consideration of the Village Green application by the County Council. 
 

The case 
 
10. The Application has been made on the grounds that the Application Site has 

become a Town or Village Green by virtue of the recreational use of the land by 
local residents for a period in excess of twenty years.  
 

11. Included with the application were 75 user evidence questionnaires setting out the 
use of the land by local residents. A further 7 evidence questionnaires have been 
received more recently. A summary of the user evidence submitted in support of 
the Application is attached at Appendix C. 
 

12. The Application is made under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act (i.e. on the basis that 
recreational use of the Application Site has continued up until the date of the 
application). The application was made on 4th March 2025 such that the relevant 
twenty-year period (“the material period”) for the purposes of the Application is 4th 
March 2005 to 4th March 2025. 

 
Consultations 
 
13. Consultations have been carried out as required; 18 messages of support have 

been received from local residents and a further letter of support has been 
received from the Headteacher of nearby Highworth Grammar School. 

 
Landowner 
 
14. At the time of the consultation (in June 2025), the ownership of the entirety of the 

Application Site was registered at the Land Registry to Blue Sky Estates Ltd., 
comprising part of a larger area of land included within Title number K86324, and 
notice of application was served accordingly. However, following advertisement of 
the application, Mr. H. Ahmad wrote in objection to the application as the new 

Page 2



  
 

owner of the land (“the Landowner”), having purchased it at auction on 13th 
February 20251.  
 

15. The objection is made on the basis that the Application Site was purchased to 
provide a safe outdoor space for the Landowner’s family and it is alleged that the 
application to register the land as a Village Green is opportunistic, lacks the 
evidential foundation to satisfy the statutory requirements for village green 
registration and constitutes a misuse of the legislation in order to override the 
legitimate interests of the private ownership of the land. In particular, it is 
submitted that: 

• The Applicant has failed to define a legally recognisable locality, the user 
evidence spanning a vague and inconsistent area that does not meet the 
statutory requirement for the identification of a qualifying community unit; 

• The user evidence submitted in support of the Application is vague, 
formulaic, and lacks specificity, with much of the evidence referring to 
generic activities such as dog walking or walking to shops without clarifying 
whether such use took place on the Application Site versus surrounding 
areas; 

• Use of the Application Site has been by virtue of an implied permission, 
and not ‘as of right’, on the basis that numerous residents have made 
statements to the effect that they believed the land to be Council-owned 
and/or maintained; 

• A ‘trigger event’ has occurred on the basis that the land has been publicly 
marketed, discussed in the local media and may have been considered 
under local planning processes; 

• Since its purchase, the Landowner has made consistent and lawful efforts 
to assert private ownership, including installing private property signs 
(which were repeatedly torn down) and the erection of fencing to terminate 
‘as of right’ use; and 

• Any use of the Application Site has been incidental, sporadic and informal, 
and the evidence relies heavily upon generic statements, often repeated 
word for word across different witnesses and frequently referencing 
activities (e.g. walking to shops) which do not constitute recreational use of 
the land at all. 
 

16. These issues are considered further in the discussion regarding legal tests below. 
In respect of the Landowner’s comment regarding the alleged ‘trigger event’, it is 
to be noted that the marketing of land for sale, or any associated discussions in 
the local media or with the local planning authority, do not constitute one of the 
formal ‘trigger events’ set out in Schedule 1A of the Commons Act 2006 (which 
disengage the right to apply for Village Green status). That list includes events 
such as the publication of an application for planning permission in relation to the 
land and the publication of a draft development plan (or neighbourhood 
development plan) document which identifies the land for potential development. 
None of the events set out in Schedule 1A of the Commons Act 2006 are 
understood to apply in this case. 

 
 

 
1 Searches undertaken with the Land Registry on 11/11/2025 indicate that the land is still in the 
process of being transferred into new ownership with title number TT178198. 

Page 3



  
 

Legal tests 
 
17. In dealing with an application to register a new Town or Village Green the County 

Council must consider the following criteria: 
(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'? 
(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 

pastimes? 
(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular 

locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality? 
(d) Whether use of the land ‘as of right’ by the inhabitants has continued up 

until the date of application or, if not, has ceased no more than one year prior 
to the making of the application? 

(e) Whether use has taken place over period of twenty years or more? 
 

I shall now take each of these points and elaborate on them individually: 
 
(a) Whether use of the land has been 'as of right'?  
 
18. The statutory scheme in relation to Village Green applications is based upon the 

English law of prescription, whereby certain rights can be acquired on the basis of 
a presumed dedication by the landowner. This presumption of dedication arises 
as a result of acquiescence (i.e. inaction by the landowner) and, as such, long 
use by the public is merely evidence from which a dedication can be inferred. 
 

19. In order to infer a dedication, use must have been ‘as of right’. This means that 
use must have taken place without force, without secrecy and without permission 
(‘nec vi, nec clam, nec precario’). In this context, force refers not only to physical 
force, but to any use which is contentious or exercised under protest2: “if, then, 
the inhabitants’ use of the land is to give rise to the possibility of an application 
being made for registration of a village green, it must have been peaceable and 
non-contentious”3. As such, if a landowner takes steps to indicate that he objects 
to informal use of his land (thus disproving any acquiescence to the use), then 
that use will not be considered ‘as of right’. 

 
20. In this case, there is no suggestion that general recreational use of the application 

site took place secretively or in exercise of any physical force, and Google 
Streetview images confirm that, until the more recent erection of Heras fencing, 
unrestricted access to the Application Site has been available (and this is 
consistent with the user evidence submitted in support of the application). 

 
21. The Landowner suggests that any recreational use of the Application Site has 

taken place by virtue of an implied permission on the basis that local residents 
believed the land to be Council-owned and/or maintained. However, the Courts 
have confirmed that the subjective state of mind of users is not relevant for the 
purposes of establishing whether use has taken place ‘as of right’4; thus, it 

 
2 Dalton v Angus (1881) 6 App Cas 740 (HL) 
3 R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2010] UKSC 11 at paragraph 92 
4 R v. Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385: ‘user 
which is apparently as of right cannot be discounted merely because, as will often be the case, many 
of the users over a long period were subjectively indifferent as to whether a right existed, or even had 
private knowledge that it did not’ 

Page 4



  
 

matters not who the users believed to be the owner of the land, or whether they 
believed they had the right to be there. 

 
22. The Landowner also refers to the repeated erection of ‘private land’ signs on the 

Application Site, but there is no information as to the precise dates or locations of 
these notices, and it is likely that these appeared after the submission of the 
Village Green application (such that they are not relevant to the determination of 
the application). Even if the notices appeared immediately following the 
Landowner’s purchase of the land on 13th February 2025 - and prior to the 
submission of the Application on 4th March 2025 - this challenge to use would still 
be within the one year period of grace permitted for Village Green applications to 
be made (discussed further below). 

 
23. On the evidence available, therefore, it appears that informal recreational use on 

the Application Site is likely to have taken place ‘as of right’. 
 
(b) Whether use of the land has been for the purposes of lawful sports and 
pastimes? 
 
24. Lawful sports and pastimes can be commonplace activities including dog walking, 

children playing, picnicking and kite-flying. Legal principle does not require that 
rights of this nature be limited to certain ancient pastimes (such as maypole 
dancing) or for organised sports or communal activities to have taken place. The 
Courts have held that ‘dog walking and playing with children [are], in modern life, 
the kind of informal recreation which may be the main function of a village green’5. 

 
25. The summary of evidence of use by local residents at Appendix C shows the 

activities claimed to have taken place on the Application Site. Those activities 
comprise primarily of dog walking and playing with children, but there are also 
examples of the land being used for picnics and ball games. The Applicant notes 
that local residents went to great lengths to complete a large volume of evidence 
questionnaires, which reflects the depth of local feeling regarding this piece of 
land. It is submitted that the activities that are said to have taken place on the 
land are exactly those that are typical of a Village Green, and the fact that the 
land lies adjacent to a children’s playground makes it naturally more attractive as 
a place for recreational use. 

 
26. However, the Landowner suggests that the user evidence is vague and formulaic, 

with much of the evidence referring to generic activities such as dog walking or 
walking to shops without clarifying whether such use took place on the Application 
Site versus surrounding areas. 

 
27. It is true that, when considering applications to register land as a Village Green, it 

will be, as established in the Laing Homes6 case, ‘important to distinguish 
between use that would suggest to a reasonable landowner that the users 
believed they were exercising a public right of way to walk, with or without dogs... 
and use that would suggest to such a landowner that the users believed that they 
were exercising a right to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes across the whole 

 
5 R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed [1995] 70 P&CR 487 at 508 and approved by Lord 
Hoffman in R v. Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 
6 R (Laing Homes) v Buckinghamshire County Council [2003] 3 EGLR 70 at 79 per Sullivan J 

Page 5



  
 

of the fields’. Thus, references to ‘walking to shops’ are more likely to constitute a 
‘right of way’ type of use, as opposed to qualifying use for the purposes of Village 
Green registration, and the size of the land (combined with the availability of 
larger recreational spaces nearby) means that it arguably might have been 
difficult for activities such as dog walking to take place on the Application Site 
itself in any meaningful way. 

 
28. Ultimately, it is very difficult to ascertain the precise nature of the use - and 

differentiate between different kinds of use - on the paper evidence available. For 
this reason, it is considered that this is an issue that would benefit from further 
consideration by way of oral testimony by witnesses to clarify more precisely the 
nature and extent of the recreational use that has taken place on the Application 
Site. 

 
(c) Whether use has been by a significant number of inhabitants of a particular 
locality, or a neighbourhood within a locality? 
 
29. The right to use a Town or Village Green is restricted to the inhabitants of a 

locality, or of a neighbourhood within a locality, and it is therefore important to be 
able to define this area with a degree of accuracy so that the group of people to 
whom the recreational rights are attached can be identified.  

 
30. The definition of ‘locality’ for the purposes of a Town or Village Green application 

has been the subject of much debate in the Courts. In the Cheltenham Builders7 
case, it was considered that ‘…at the very least, Parliament required the users of 
the land to be the inhabitants of somewhere that could sensibly be described as a 
locality… there has to be, in my judgement, a sufficiently cohesive entity which is 
capable of definition’. The judge later went on to suggest that this might mean that 
locality should normally constitute ‘some legally recognised administrative division 
of the county’. 

 
31. In cases where the locality is so large that it would be impossible to meet the 

‘significant number’ test (see below), it will also necessary to identify a 
neighbourhood within the locality. The concept of a ‘neighbourhood’ is more 
flexible than that of a locality, and need not be a legally recognised administrative 
unit. On the subject of ‘neighbourhood’, the Courts have held that ‘it is common 
ground that a neighbourhood need not be a recognised administrative unit. A 
housing estate might well be described in ordinary language as a 
neighbourhood… The Registration Authority has to be satisfied that the area 
alleged to be a neighbourhood has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness; otherwise 
the word “neighbourhood” would be stripped of any real meaning’8. 

 
32. In this case, the application has been made in reliance upon ‘the Quantock Estate 

within Furley Ward and Ashford Central Division’9. 
 

33. In opposition to this, the Landowner submits that the Applicant has failed to define 
a legally recognisable locality, with the user evidence spanning a vague and 

 
7 R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd.) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85 at 90 
8 ibid at 92 
9 Specified by the Applicant at part 6 of the application form. 

Page 6



  
 

inconsistent area that does not meet the statutory requirement for the 
identification of a qualifying community unit. 

 
34. However, there can be no dispute that both the Ashford Borough Council electoral 

ward of Furley and the Kent County Council electoral division of Ashford Central 
(both identified by the Applicant) are legally recognised administrative divisions10 
of the county, such that either would be capable of constituting a qualifying 
locality for the purposes of Village Green registration. 

 
35. In terms of the neighbourhood relied upon, there is no evidence to indicate that 

the Quantock Drive estate is not a qualifying community unit. Those that have 
completed user evidence forms in support of the application are all residents of 
the Quantock Drive estate, with many positively identifying themselves as 
residents of ‘the estate’ or living ‘on Quantock’. The fact that area as a whole 
comprises a housing estate primarily developed during the early 1970s with only 
two entrance/exit points (thereby indicating a self-contained area) means that the 
area is likely to have the features of a qualifying neighbourhood. 

 
36. As such, and despite the Landowner’s assertion to the contrary, there appears to 

be no reason on the information available why the Quantock Estate would not 
constitute a qualifying neighbourhood for the purposes of Village Green 
registration. 

 
“a significant number” 

 
37. The County Council also needs to be satisfied that the Application Site has been 

used by a ‘significant number’ of the residents of the ‘neighbourhood within a 
locality’. The word “significant” in this context does not mean considerable or 
substantial: ‘a neighbourhood may have a very limited population and a significant 
number of the inhabitants of such a neighbourhood might not be so great as to 
properly be described as a considerable or a substantial number… what matters 
is that the number of people using the land in question has to be sufficient to 
indicate that the land is in general use by the community for informal recreation 
rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers’11. Thus, what constitutes 
a ‘significant number’ will depend upon the local environment and will vary in each 
case depending upon the location of the application site. 
 

38. In this case, the summary of user evidence at Appendix C indicates that the 
Application Site has been in regular usage by a large number of local residents, 
with over half of those submitting evidence questionnaires attesting to either daily 
(22 users) or weekly (24 users) use of the land. Even in an urban area, this 
volume of use is, on the face of it, likely to be sufficient to indicate that the land 
was in general use by the community. 

 
39. The Landowner’s position is that any informal recreational use of the Application 

Site has been on an incidental and sporadic basis, and some of the activities 
referred to (e.g. walking to shops) do not constitute recreational use of the land at 
all. 

 
10 The judgement in Leeds Group plc v Leeds City Council [2010] EWHC 810 confirmed that an 
electoral ward was capable of being a qualifying locality for the purposes of Village Green registration 
11 R (Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd.) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 at paragraph 71 

Page 7



  
 

40.  As discussed above, it is correct to say that some of the evidence of use almost 
certainly fails to qualify as recreational ‘village green’ use as several witnesses 
refer to using the land solely to access local shops and amenities, which would be 
considered a ‘rights of way’ type of use instead. As such, although there is a very 
large body of user evidence which suggests (on the face of it) that use has taken 
place by a ‘significant number’ of local residents, that test has to be judged in the 
context of qualifying recreational use and, in the absence of more detailed 
consideration of the precise nature of the user evidence, it is difficult to assess the 
degree to which some (if any) of the evidence falls to be discounted. 
 

(d) Whether use of the land ‘as of right’ by the inhabitants has continued up 
until the date of application or, if not, ceased no more than one year prior to the 
making of the application? 
 
41. The Commons Act 2006 requires use of the land to have taken place ‘as of right’ 

up until the date of application or, if such use has ceased prior to the making of 
the application, section 15(3) of the 2006 Act provides that an application must be 
made within one year from the date upon which use ‘as of right’ ceased. 

 
42. In this case, the Application is made under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act on the 

basis that use of the application site continued ‘as of right’ until the date of the 
application on 4th March 2025 (such that the relevant twenty-year period is 4th 
March 2005 to 4th March 2025). 

 
43. Fencing was erected around the Application Site on 27th June 2025 which had the 

effect of physically excluding users from the land, but this event took place after 
the application was made and is therefore outside of the relevant twenty year 
period. 

 
44. The Landowner submits that ‘private’ notices have been erected around the 

Application Site, but there is no information as to precise dates or locations. 
However, even supposing that such notices had been erected immediately 
following the Landowner’s purchase of the site on 13th February 2025, the 
application has still been made well within the one year period of grace set out in 
section 15(3) of the 2006 Act 

 
(e) Whether use has taken place over a period of twenty years or more? 
 
45. In order to qualify for registration, it must be shown that the land in question has 

been used for a full period of twenty years. In this case, it is not currently 
considered that use ‘as of right’ ceased prior to the making of the application in 
March 2025 (subject to further evidence as to the notices) and the material period 
is considered to be March 2005 to March 2025. 

 
46. The user evidence submitted in support of the Application (and summarised at 

Appendix C) demonstrates that the recreational use is alleged to have taken 
place for a period in excess of twenty years. Of the 82 witnesses, just under two-
thirds claim to have used the Application Site for the full twenty-year period. The 
majority of those who have submitted evidence in support of the Application are 
longstanding – and in a number of cases original – residents of the estate. The 
open nature of the site, along with its location adjoining a playground in the centre 

Page 8



  
 

of a residential area, make it likely that it has been used for a period well in 
access of twenty years. 

 
Conclusion 
 
47. The impact of Village Green registration is far reaching for the landowner and, in 

practical terms, has the effect of severely restricting the use to which the land can 
be put and sterilising it against any future development. As the Courts12 have 
held, it is ‘no trivial matter’ for land to be registered as a Village Green and, as 
such, it is important that the necessary legal tests are ‘properly and strictly 
proved’. To this end, in order for the Application to succeed, all five of the legal 
tests set out above must be met; if one test fails, then the application as whole 
falls to be rejected. 
 

48. As set out above, although the Applicant has put forward a good case in favour of 
registration of the land as a Village Green, there are some elements of the 
evidence that require more detailed analysis and some legal tests that have not 
been sufficiently proven at this stage. Similarly, although a number of the 
objections raised by the Landowner are not relevant to the determination of the 
Application (such as those in respect of the possible motive(s) behind the 
application), the Landowner has raised legitimate concerns as to the precise 
nature and extent of the evidence. A local Public Inquiry would enable such 
issues to be clarified. 

 
49. Indeed, there is judicial support for the holding of a local Public Inquiry in such 

cases: ‘the registration authority has to consider both the interests of the 
landowner and the possible interest of the local inhabitants. That means that 
there should not be any presumption in favour of registration or any presumption 
against registration. It will mean that, in any case where there is a serious dispute, 
a registration authority will almost invariably need to appoint an independent 
expert to hold a public inquiry, and find the requisite facts, in order to obtain the 
proper advice before registration’13. Lady Justice Arden, in the same judgement, 
also indicated14 that the registration authority ‘may indeed consider that they owe 
an obligation to have an inquiry if the matter is of great local interest’. 

 
50. Provision for holding a Public Inquiry is made in the 2014 Regulations: the 

process involves the County Council appointing an independent Inspector 
(normally a Barrister) to hear the relevant evidence both in support of and in 
opposition to the application, and report his/her findings back to the County 
Council. The final decision regarding the application nonetheless remains with the 
County Council in its capacity as the Commons Registration Authority. 

 
51. Accordingly, it is considered that the most appropriate course of action in this 

case is for the matter to be referred to a Public Inquiry. 
 

Financial implications 
 
52. The determination of Village Green applications is a quasi-judicial function of the 

 
12 R v Suffolk County Council, Ex p Steed (1996) 75 P & CR 102 at 111 
13 R (Whitmey) v Commons Commissioners [2004] EWCA Civ 951 at paragraph 66 
14 Ibid at paragraph 30 

Page 9



  
 

County Council and, accordingly, any financial implications can have no bearing 
whatsoever on the Member Panel’s decision. However, Members should be 
aware that the only right of appeal open to the parties against the Panel’s 
decision is an application to the High Court for Judicial Review, which potentially 
carries significant legal costs for all concerned.  
 

53. As such, if Members are minded to depart from the recommendation set out 
below, full reasons should be provided for doing so. 

 
Recommendation 
 
54. I recommend that a Public Inquiry be held into the case to clarify the issues. 

 
 

Accountable Officer:  
Mr. Graham Rusling – Tel: 03000 413449 or Email: graham.rusling@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Ms. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 03000 413421 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 
 
Appendices 
 
APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Photographs of the application site 
APPENDIX C – Summary of the user evidence 

Page 10



VG296

BLACKDOWNDRIVE

PENNINEWAY

BL
AC

KD
OW

N 
DR

IVE

EXMOOR RISE

PE
NN

IN
E W

AY

BR
EN

DO
N D

RI
VE

COTSWOLD CLOSE

QUANTOCK DRIVE

MALVERN ROAD

SIMONE WEIL AVENUE

SIMONE WEIL AVENUE

QUANTOCK DRIVE

600800

600800

600900

600900

601000

601000

14
36

00

14
36

00

14
37

00

14
37

00

²
Scale 1:1250

@ A4

Land subject to Village Green
application at Quantock Drive, Ashford

(reference PROW/VGA700)

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing Application Site

NB Existing Village Green registered pursuant 
to previous application is shown in green (VG296)

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B: 
Photographs of the Application Site 

NB Photographs taken on 10th June 2025, prior to the erection of the Heras fencing by the Landowner 

 

 

Page 13



APPENDIX B: 
Photographs of the Application Site 

NB Photographs taken on 10th June 2025, prior to the erection of the Heras fencing by the Landowner 

 

 

Page 14



U
se

r 
D

at
es

 o
f u

se
 

Ty
pe

 o
f u

se
 

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y 
O

th
er

 c
om

m
en

ts
 

1 
19

97
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pl

ay
in

g 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

(fo
ot

ba
ll 

et
c.

), 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 s

ho
ps

 a
nd

 
pl

ay
 a

re
a 

D
ai

ly
 

Th
er

e 
is

 a
 c

le
ar

 p
at

h 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
la

nd
 

w
hi

ch
 in

di
ca

te
s 

da
ily

 jo
ur

ne
ys

 b
y 

nu
m

er
ou

s 
pe

op
le

. 
2 

N
ot

 u
se

d 
N

on
e 

 
 

3 
20

12
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
G

ra
nd

ch
ild

re
n 

in
 th

e 
pl

ay
 p

ar
k,

 fa
m

ily
 d

og
 w

al
ks

 
M

on
th

ly
 

‘I 
liv

e 
on

 Q
ua

nt
oc

k’
 

4 
19

71
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pl

ay
in

g 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d 

gr
an

dc
hi

ld
re

n,
 d

og
 w

al
ki

ng
 

W
ee

kl
y 

 
5 

N
ot

 u
se

d 
N

on
e 

 
 

6 
20

18
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pl

ay
in

g 
w

ith
 g

ra
nd

ch
ild

re
n,

 w
al

ki
ng

 th
e 

do
g 

W
ee

kl
y 

 
7 

19
85

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

U
se

d 
th

e 
pl

ay
 a

re
a 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
 

8 
20

00
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Ta

ki
ng

 s
on

 to
 s

ee
 th

e 
tre

es
 e

tc
. 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
‘W

e’
re

 o
n 

Q
ua

nt
oc

k’
 

9 
19

87
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
U

si
ng

 th
e 

pl
ay

 a
re

a 
w

ith
 g

ra
nd

ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

w
al

ki
ng

 to
 

lo
ca

l s
ch

oo
ls

, s
ho

ps
 a

nd
 w

or
k 

D
ai

ly
 

‘re
si

de
nt

 o
f Q

ua
nt

oc
k 

Es
ta

te
’ 

10
 

20
21

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

 p
ar

k 
an

d 
do

g 
w

al
ki

ng
 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
 

11
 

19
75

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 fo

ot
ba

ll 
et

c.
 

Va
ria

bl
e 

O
bs

er
ve

d 
us

e 
by

 o
th

er
s 

on
 a

 d
ai

ly
 b

as
is

. 
12

 
N

ot
 s

ta
te

d 
D

og
 w

al
ki

ng
, p

la
yi

ng
 w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
R

es
id

en
t o

f ‘
Q

ua
nt

oc
k 

Es
ta

te
’ 

13
 

19
97

 –
 1

99
8 

Pl
ay

in
g 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 d

og
 w

al
ki

ng
 

D
ai

ly
 

M
ov

ed
 fu

rth
er

 a
lo

ng
 th

e 
ro

ad
 a

nd
 n

ow
 

us
e 

ot
he

r l
an

d.
 O

bs
er

ve
d 

us
e 

by
 o

th
er

s 
on

 a
 d

ai
ly

 b
as

is
. 

14
 

19
90

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Ba
ll 

ga
m

es
, a

cc
es

s 
to

 s
ho

ps
/c

in
em

a,
 s

ho
rt 

cu
t t

o 
ch

ild
re

ns
 p

la
y 

ar
ea

 
M

on
th

ly
 

Pe
op

le
 u

se
 it

 d
ai

ly.
 

15
 

19
84

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
Va

ria
bl

e 
U

se
d 

m
or

e 
re

gu
la

rly
 in

 th
e 

pa
st

. 
C

ur
re

nt
ly

 o
cc

as
io

na
l u

se
. 

16
 

20
17

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

W
al

ki
ng

 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 

 
17

 
19

84
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
H

id
e 

an
d 

se
ek

 w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 p

ic
ni

cs
 in

 th
e 

pl
ay

 p
ar

k 
Tw

ic
e 

w
ee

kl
y 

 

18
 

19
85

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

ga
m

es
 w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 p
ic

ni
cs

, m
ee

tin
g 

fri
en

ds
 o

f a
 

ch
at

, r
es

tin
g 

on
 th

e 
gr

as
s 

D
ai

ly
 

Th
e 

la
nd

 is
 u

se
d 

al
l t

he
 ti

m
e 

by
 th

e 
re

si
de

nt
s 

of
 Q

ua
nt

oc
k 

Es
ta

te
 

19
 

19
70

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Fo
ot

ba
ll,

 c
ric

ke
t, 

pi
cn

ic
s 

Fr
eq

ue
nt

ly
 

W
e 

ar
e 

re
si

de
nt

s 
of

 ‘t
he

 a
re

a 
ge

ne
ra

lly
 

kn
ow

n 
as

 th
e 

Q
ua

nt
oc

k 
Ar

ea
’. 

Th
e 

la
nd

 
ha

s 
al

w
ay

s 
be

en
 u

se
d 

so
ci

al
ly

 in
 th

e 
54

 
ye

ar
s 

w
e 

ha
ve

 li
ve

d 
he

re
. 

20
 

20
10

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

W
al

k,
 e

xe
rc

is
e,

 c
hi

ld
re

ns
 p

la
yg

ro
un

d 
D

ai
ly

 
Th

e 
la

nd
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

us
ed

 o
ve

r t
he

 y
ea

rs
 

lo
ca

lly
 a

nd
 is

 a
 v

er
y 

sm
al

l g
oo

d 
pa

rk
. 

21
 

20
17

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
pl

ay
in

g,
 d

og
 w

al
ki

ng
 

W
ee

kl
y 

 
22

 
20

23
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
W

al
ke

d 
th

e 
do

g 
by

 th
e 

ed
ge

 o
n 

th
e 

pa
th

 
N

ot
 s

ta
te

d 
Sa

fe
 p

la
ce

 fo
r c

hi
ld

re
n 

to
 p

la
y 

w
ith

ou
t 

cr
os

si
ng

 th
e 

ro
ad

. 
 

 

APPENDIX C: 
Summary of user evidence 

Page 15



23
 

19
72

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Ex
er

ci
si

ng
 d

og
 

W
ee

kl
y 

 
24

 
19

86
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pl

ay
in

g 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
 

25
 

19
83

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

D
og

 w
al

ki
ng

, u
si

ng
 p

la
y 

eq
ui

pm
en

t 
D

ai
ly

/w
ee

kl
y 

R
es

id
en

ts
 o

f ‘
Q

ua
nt

oc
k 

D
riv

e 
ar

ea
’. 

Pl
ay

gr
ou

nd
 u

se
d 

al
m

os
t d

ai
ly,

 o
pe

n 
gr

ou
nd

 m
or

e 
oc

ca
si

on
al

ly.
 

26
 

19
72

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

O
ur

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
us

e 
it 

fo
r p

la
yi

ng
 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
 

27
 

19
88

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

N
ot

 s
ta

te
d 

W
ee

kl
y 

 
28

 
19

90
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
W

al
ki

ng
 d

og
, p

la
yi

ng
 w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 c
yc

lin
g 

Va
ria

bl
e 

U
se

d 
m

on
th

ly
 in

 w
in

te
r a

nd
 w

ee
kl

y 
in

 
su

m
m

er
. ‘

I a
m

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 Q

ua
nt

oc
k 

D
riv

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

’. 
29

 
19

75
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
M

y 
gr

an
dc

hi
ld

re
n 

pl
ay

, I
 w

al
k 

m
y 

do
gs

 d
ai

ly
 

D
ai

ly
 

 
30

 
19

83
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
U

se
d 

fo
r p

la
yi

ng
 w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
 

31
 

19
80

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Sh
or

tc
ut

 to
 S

ai
ns

bu
ry

s,
 v

er
y 

oc
ca

si
on

al
ly

 b
al

l g
am

es
 w

ith
 

ch
ild

re
n 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
 

32
 

19
71

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

 p
ar

k 
D

ai
ly

 
Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ha

ve
 c

ut
 th

e 
gr

ee
n 

si
nc

e 
19

71
. 

33
 

20
04

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

D
og

 w
al

ki
ng

 (d
ai

ly
) p

la
yi

ng
 w

ith
 g

ra
nd

ch
ild

re
n 

(m
on

th
ly

) 
D

ai
ly

 
W

e 
re

fe
r t

o 
th

e 
ar

ea
 a

s 
‘th

e 
Q

ua
nt

oc
k 

Es
ta

te
’. 

34
 

19
70

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

D
og

 w
al

ki
ng

 
W

ee
kl

y 
 

35
 

19
85

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 

 
36

 
20

13
 –

 2
02

2 
N

ot
 s

ta
te

d 
W

ee
kl

y 
 

37
 

19
80

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

U
se

 o
f c

hi
ld

re
ns

 p
la

y 
pa

rk
, b

al
l g

am
es

 o
n 

th
e 

gr
as

s 
N

ot
 s

ta
te

d 
 

38
 

19
81

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Ta
ki

ng
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

to
 p

la
y 

ar
ea

, d
og

 w
al

ki
ng

 w
ith

 fr
ie

nd
s 

W
ee

kl
y 

I h
av

e 
ne

ve
r w

al
ke

d 
pa

st
 th

e 
pa

y 
ar

ea
 

w
he

n 
at

 le
as

t o
ne

 c
hi

ld
 is

 n
ot

 u
si

ng
 it

. 
39

 
N

ot
 s

ta
te

d 
N

ot
 s

ta
te

d 
N

ot
 s

ta
te

d 
 

40
 

19
87

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

W
al

ki
ng

 
D

ai
ly

 
 

41
 

19
88

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

D
og

 w
al

ki
ng

 
D

ai
ly

 
 

42
 

19
94

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

W
al

ki
ng

, e
xe

rc
is

e 
of

 d
og

s 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 

 
43

 
19

74
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 u

se
 fo

ot
pa

th
 to

 M
al

ve
rn

 R
oa

d.
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d 

gr
an

dc
hi

ld
re

n 
us

ed
 th

e 
la

nd
 to

 p
la

y 
on

. 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 

 

44
 

19
97

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

D
og

 w
al

ki
ng

, c
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

pl
ay

 
D

ai
ly

 
‘I 

liv
e 

on
 th

e 
es

ta
te

’ 
45

 
19

85
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
W

al
ki

ng
, d

og
 w

al
ki

ng
 

D
ai

ly
 

Th
e 

ar
ea

 is
 k

no
w

n 
lo

ca
lly

 a
s 

‘th
e 

Q
ua

nt
oc

k 
Es

ta
te

’. 
46

 
N

ot
 u

se
d 

N
ot

 s
ta

te
d 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
I o

nl
y 

se
e 

th
e 

la
nd

 w
he

n 
pa

ss
in

g.
 

47
 

19
70

 –
 2

02
2 

D
og

 w
al

ki
ng

, e
xe

rc
is

e,
 v

er
y 

oc
ca

si
on

al
 p

ic
ni

cs
 

D
ai

ly
 

Th
e 

la
nd

 is
 u

se
d 

by
 m

an
y 

pe
op

le
, a

nd
 b

y 
m

an
y 

ch
ild

re
n 

th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

su
m

m
er

. 
48

 
19

75
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pl

ay
ed

 w
ith

 s
on

 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 

 
49

 
20

06
 –

 2
01

1 
Ki

ck
in

g 
ba

ll 
w

ith
 g

ra
nd

so
n 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
 

Page 16



50
 

20
05

 –
 2

02
1 

W
al

ki
ng

 
M

on
th

ly
 

 
51

 
19

84
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Si

tti
ng

 a
nd

 c
ha

tti
ng

 w
ith

 fr
ie

nd
s,

 c
hi

ld
re

ns
 p

la
y 

pa
rk

, 
pi

cn
ic

s 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 c
al

l g
am

es
, s

itt
in

g 
in

 th
e 

sh
ad

e 
un

de
r t

re
es

 

W
ee

kl
y 

La
nd

 is
 im

po
rta

nt
 to

 re
si

de
nt

s 
as

 it
 is

 a
 

sm
al

l a
re

a 
th

at
 is

 s
ui

ta
bl

e 
fo

r y
ou

ng
 

ch
ild

re
n 

to
 p

la
y 

un
de

r s
up

er
vi

si
on

. 
52

 
19

92
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
W

al
ki

ng
 a

nd
 e

xe
rc

is
e 

ar
ou

nd
 th

e 
es

ta
te

 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 

 
53

 
19

87
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Ac

ce
ss

 to
 p

la
y 

pa
rk

, g
am

es
 w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 d
og

 w
al

ki
ng

 
w

ee
kl

y 
 

54
 

19
92

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

(p
ag

e 
m

is
si

ng
) 

(m
is

si
ng

) 
 

55
 

20
17

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

W
al

ki
ng

 to
 n

ea
rb

y 
sh

op
s 

W
ee

kl
y 

 
56

 
19

95
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pl

ay
in

g 
w

ith
 g

ra
nd

ch
ild

re
n,

 w
al

ki
ng

 to
 lo

ca
l s

ho
ps

 
W

ee
kl

y 
Th

e 
ar

ea
 is

 m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

by
 th

e 
lo

ca
l 

C
ou

nc
il.

 
57

 
19

90
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pi

cn
ic

s,
 b

al
l g

am
es

 
W

ee
kl

y 
Th

is
 p

ie
ce

 o
f l

an
d 

w
as

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 la

nd
 

us
ed

 a
s 

a 
vi

lla
ge

 g
re

en
. 

58
 

20
00

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
pl

ay
in

g,
 w

al
ki

ng
 d

og
 

D
ai

ly
 

 
59

 
20

23
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pl

ay
in

g 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 p
ic

ni
cs

 in
 s

um
m

er
 

D
ai

ly
 

Th
is

 is
 a

 p
ub

lic
 a

re
a 

th
at

 is
 u

se
d 

al
l o

f t
he

 
tim

e.
 

60
 

19
95

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 

 
61

 
19

82
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
C

on
te

m
pl

at
io

n,
 re

ad
in

g,
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

at
ch

in
g 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
M

ai
nl

y 
us

ed
 in

 s
um

m
er

. 
62

 
20

06
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Ex

er
ci

se
, c

yc
lin

g,
 fo

ot
ba

ll,
 w

al
ki

ng
, s

oc
ia

lis
in

g 
D

ai
ly

 
 

63
 

20
11

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

fo
ot

ba
ll,

 p
ic

ni
cs

, b
ird

w
at

ch
in

g 
W

ee
kl

y 
Li

ve
 o

n 
‘Q

ua
nt

oc
k 

D
riv

e 
es

ta
te

’ 
64

 
20

04
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Ta

ki
ng

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
to

 p
la

y 
pa

rk
, s

itt
in

g 
on

 th
e 

be
nc

h 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 

Th
e 

ar
ea

 is
 a

w
ay

 fr
om

 b
us

y 
tra

ffi
c 

an
d 

th
e 

pl
ay

gr
ou

nd
 is

 fe
nc

ed
 o

ff 
so

 th
at

 
ch

ild
re

n 
ar

e 
sa

fe
 to

 p
la

y 
th

er
e.

 
65

 
20

18
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Fo

ot
ba

ll,
 s

up
er

vi
si

ng
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

pl
ay

in
g,

 ro
le

 p
la

y 
in

 th
e 

pa
rk

 
W

ee
kl

y 
 

66
 

19
96

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

N
ot

 s
ta

te
d 

W
ee

kl
y 

 
67

 
20

06
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

us
ed

 p
la

yp
ar

k 
an

d 
pl

ay
ed

 o
n 

gr
as

s 
ar

ea
 

(p
ic

ni
cs

), 
do

g 
w

al
ki

ng
 a

nd
 p

la
yi

ng
 w

ith
 d

og
 o

n 
gr

as
s 

ar
ea

 
D

ai
ly

 
Th

is
 is

 a
 s

m
al

l a
re

a 
us

ed
 b

y 
re

si
de

nt
s 

da
ily

 a
nd

 s
ho

ul
d 

be
 k

ep
t t

ha
t w

ay
. 

68
 

20
15

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

G
ra

nd
ch

ild
re

n 
pl

ay
in

g 
in

 th
e 

pa
rk

 a
nd

 in
 th

e 
gr

ee
n 

(fo
ot

ba
ll)

, d
og

 w
al

ki
ng

, p
ic

ni
cs

 in
 th

e 
su

m
m

er
 

D
ai

ly
 

 

69
 

20
13

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

D
og

 w
al

ki
ng

, p
ic

ni
cs

 in
 s

um
m

er
 

W
ee

kl
y 

Th
is

 p
ie

ce
 o

f l
an

d 
is

 u
se

d 
a 

lo
t b

y 
ch

ild
re

n,
 d

og
 w

al
ke

rs
, p

ic
ni

cs
, e

xe
rc

is
e,

 
ba

ll 
ga

m
es

 
70

 
19

88
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pl

ay
in

g 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 e
nj

oy
in

g 
gr

ee
n 

sp
ac

e,
 ro

ut
e 

to
 

su
pe

rm
ar

ke
t. 

W
ee

kl
y 

U
se

d 
da

ily
 in

 th
e 

pa
st

, n
ow

 w
ee

kl
y.

 
Th

er
e 

is
 a

 w
el

l w
or

n 
pa

th
w

ay
 a

cr
os

s 
th

e 
gr

as
s.

 
71

 
20

04
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
U

se
 fo

ot
pa

th
 to

 lo
ca

l s
ho

ps
 a

nd
 a

m
en

iti
es

 
D

ai
ly

 
 

72
 

19
78

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

W
al

k 
do

g 
an

d 
pl

ay
 b

al
l 

W
ee

kl
y 

 
73

 
19

71
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Pl

ay
in

g 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

N
ot

 s
ta

te
d 

 

Page 17



74
 

19
83

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

D
og

 w
al

ki
ng

, c
ut

 th
ro

ug
h 

to
 s

ho
ps

, p
la

yi
ng

 fo
ot

ba
ll 

an
d 

pi
cn

ic
s 

w
he

n 
ch

ild
re

n 
w

er
e 

yo
un

ge
r 

D
ai

ly
 

 

75
 

20
08

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

R
ec

re
at

io
n,

 s
pa

ce
 to

 re
la

x 
D

ai
ly

 
Th

e 
la

nd
 is

 a
n 

ar
ea

 th
at

 w
e 

fre
qu

en
t 

of
te

n 
fo

r d
ai

ly
 w

al
ks

 a
nd

 a
s 

an
 a

re
a 

to
 

re
la

x.
 

76
 

19
89

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

fo
ot

ba
ll 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 s

itt
in

g 
un

de
r t

he
 tr

ee
s,

 
lo

ok
in

g 
at

 th
e 

bl
os

so
m

 in
 s

pr
in

g 
O

cc
as

io
na

lly
 

 

77
 

20
25

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

D
og

 w
al

ki
ng

, t
ak

in
g 

ch
ild

re
n 

to
 p

la
y 

ar
ea

 
M

on
th

ly
 

 
78

 
20

19
 –

 p
re

se
nt

 
Fo

ot
ba

ll,
 fr

is
be

e,
 p

ic
ni

cs
, b

ui
ld

in
g 

sn
ow

m
en

 
W

ee
kl

y 
Th

is
 is

 p
ub

lic
 la

nd
 th

at
 m

an
y 

lo
ca

ls
 u

se
 

da
ily

 fo
r a

ct
iv

iti
es

 w
hi

ch
 b

rin
g 

th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
 to

ge
th

er
. 

79
 

20
24

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

in
 p

ar
k,

 w
al

ki
ng

 a
cr

os
s 

gr
ee

n 
W

ee
kl

y 
 

80
 

20
00

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 p

ic
ni

cs
, b

al
l g

am
es

, d
og

 w
al

ki
ng

, 
st

op
pi

ng
 a

nd
 c

ha
tti

ng
 

D
ai

ly
 

 

81
 

20
10

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

Pl
ay

in
g 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 p

ic
ni

cs
 in

 s
um

m
er

 
W

ee
kl

y 
 

82
 

20
19

 –
 p

re
se

nt
 

R
ec

re
at

io
na

l a
ct

iv
iti

es
, f

oo
tb

al
l, 

bu
ild

in
g 

sn
ow

m
en

, 
pl

ay
in

g 
ta

g 
an

d 
hi

de
-a

nd
-s

ee
k 

O
cc

as
io

na
lly

 
 

 N
ot

es
: 

 Th
is

 ta
bl

e 
is

 in
te

nd
ed

 a
s 

a 
br

ie
f s

um
m

ar
y 

of
 th

e 
ev

id
en

ce
 a

nd
 a

ny
 p

er
tin

en
t p

oi
nt

s 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

th
er

ei
n;

 p
le

as
e 

re
fe

r t
o 

us
er

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
qu

es
tio

nn
ai

re
s 

fo
r f

ul
l d

et
ai

ls
. 

 Th
e 

m
aj

or
ity

 o
f t

he
 u

se
r e

vi
de

nc
e 

qu
es

tio
nn

ai
re

s 
ap

pe
ar

 to
 h

av
e 

be
en

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 in

 m
id

-F
eb

ru
ar

y 
20

25
; w

he
re

 ‘p
re

se
nt

’ i
s 

sp
ec

ifi
ed

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
he

ad
in

g 
‘d

at
es

 o
f u

se
’ t

hi
s 

m
ea

ns
 th

at
 u

se
 w

as
 c

on
tin

ui
ng

 a
s 

at
 th

e 
da

te
 o

f c
om

pl
et

io
n 

of
 th

e 
ev

id
en

ce
 q

ue
st

io
nn

ai
re

, b
ut

 it
 is

 n
ot

 c
on

fir
m

at
io

n 
th

at
 u

se
 c

on
tin

ue
s 

to
da

y.
 

 So
m

e 
of

 th
e 

ev
id

en
ce

 q
ue

st
io

nn
ai

re
s 

ap
pe

ar
 to

 b
e 

an
 e

xp
re

ss
io

n 
of

 s
up

po
rt 

ra
th

er
 th

an
 o

ffe
rin

g 
ev

id
en

ce
 o

f a
ct

ua
l u

se
 o

f t
he

 A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

Si
te

. 
  

Page 18



Application to register land at Trilby Way at Whitstable  
as a new Town or Village Green  

  
 

  
A report by the Head of PROW and Access Service to Kent County Council’s 
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Monday 1st December 2025.  
  
Recommendation: I recommend that the Applicant be informed that the 
application to register the land at Trilby Way at Whitstable has been accepted, 
and that the land subject to the application (as shown at Appendix A) be formally 
registered as a Town or Village Green.  
  

 
  
Local Member:  Mr. S. Heaver (Whitstable West)    Unrestricted item  

 
  
Introduction  
  
1. The County Council has received an application to register land at Trilby Way at 

Whitstable as a new Town or Village Green from Canterbury City Council (“the 
Applicant”). The application, made on 4th June 2025, was allocated the application 
number VGA701.  

  
Procedure  
  
2. Traditionally, Town and Village Greens have derived from customary law and until 

recently it was only possible to register land as a new Town or Village Green where 
certain qualifying criteria were met: i.e. where it could be shown that the land in 
question had been used ‘as of right’ for recreational purposes by the local residents 
for a period of at least 20 years.  

  
3. However, a new provision has been introduced by the Commons Act 2006 which 

enables the owner of any land to apply to voluntarily register the land as a new 
Village Green without having to meet the qualifying criteria. Section 15 states: “(8) 
The owner of any land may apply to the Commons Registration Authority to register 
the land as a town or village green.  

(9) An application under subsection (8) may only be made with the consent of 
any relevant leaseholder of, and the proprietor of any relevant charge over, the 
land.”  

  
4. Land which is voluntarily registered as a Town or Village Green under section 15(8) 

of the Commons Act 2006 enjoys the same level of statutory protection as that of 
all other registered greens and local people will have a guaranteed right to use the 
land for informal recreational purposes in perpetuity. This means that once the land 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



is registered it cannot be removed from the formal Register of Town or Village 
Greens (other than by statutory process) and must be kept free of development or 
other encroachments.  

  
5. In determining the application, the County Council must consider very carefully the 

relevant legal tests. In the present case, it must be satisfied that the applicant  
is the owner of the land and that any necessary consents have been obtained (e.g. 
from a tenant or the owner of a relevant charge). Provided that these tests are met, 
then the County Council is under a duty to grant the application and register the 
land as a Town or Village Green.  

  
The Case  
  
Description of the land  
  
6. The land proposed to be registered as a Village Green (“the Application Site”) 

consists of an area of approximately 2 acres (0.8 hectares) in size situated on the 
northern side of Trilby Way at Whitstable. The site comprises open space that is 
mainly laid to grass, with a large children’s play area on the western side and a 
Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) on the eastern side. Access to the site is available 
at several points along Trilby Way, or via entrances on the northern side of the site 
at Sheppey Way and Sand End.  
  

7. It is to be noted that the plan accompanying the application included the path 
crossing the Application Site between Sheppey View and Trilby Way; however, the 
land over which the path passes is not within the ownership of the applicant and 
has therefore been excluded for the purposes of registration.  
  

8. A plan of the Application Site is attached at Appendix A, with photographs of it at 
Appendix B.  

  
Background  

  
9. The Application Site is situated on (and was provided by the developer as part of) 

the Mariner’s View estate at Whitstable. The land was transferred to Canterbury 
City Council on 19th March 2009 with a restrictive covenant that it not be used for 
any purpose other than recreation or sports, and it is also formally designated as 
Open Space in the Local Plan. The land is maintained by Canenco, the City 
Council’s environmental company.  
  

10. The City Council wishes to register the land as a Village Green in accordance with 
its corporate aims of increasing protected green space, and also to provide the 
strongest level of protection against any future development. Once registered, the 
land will remain in the City Council’s ownership and management.  
  

Notice of Application  
  

Page 20



11. As required by the regulations, Notice of the application was published on the 
County Council’s website.  

  
Ownership of the land  
  
12. The entirety of the Application Site is registered to Canterbury City Council under 

Land Registry Title K952543.  
  
13. There are no other interested parties (e.g. leaseholders or owners of relevant 

charges) named on the Register of Title in respect of the Application Site.  
  
The ‘locality’  
  
14. DEFRA’s view is that once land is registered as a Town or Village Green, only the 

residents of the locality have the legal right to use the land for the purposes of lawful 
sports and pastimes. It is therefore necessary to identify the locality in which the 
users of the land reside.   

  
15. A locality for these purposes normally consists of a recognised administrative area 

(e.g. civil parish or electoral ward) or a cohesive entity (such as a village or housing 
estate).  

  
16. In this case, the land is situated within an unparished area and therefore the most 

appropriate locality is considered to be the the Canterbury City Council electoral 
ward of Seasalter, which is a legally recognised administrative unit with defined 
boundaries that would constitute a qualifying locality for the purposes of this 
application.  

  
Conclusion  
  
17. As stated at paragraph 3 above, the relevant criteria for the voluntary registration 

of land as a new Town or Village Green under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 
2006 requires only that the County Council is satisfied that the land is owned by the 
applicant. There is no need for the applicant to demonstrate use of the land ‘as of 
right’ for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes over a particular period.  

  
18. It can be concluded that all the necessary criteria concerning the voluntary 

registration of the land as a Village Green have been met.   
  
Recommendation  
  
19. I recommend that the Applicant be informed that the application to register the land 

at Trilby Way at Whitstable has been accepted, and that the land subject to the 
application (as shown at Appendix A) be formally registered as a Town or Village 
Green.  
   

  

Page 21



Accountable Officer:   
Mr. Graham Rusling – Tel: 03000 413449 or Email: graham.rusling@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer:  
Ms. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 03000 413421 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk  
  
Appendices  
  
APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site  
APPENDIX B – Photographs of the application site  

Page 22



610000

610000

16
47

50

16
47

50

²
Scale 1:1250

@ A4

Proposed Village Green at 
Trilby Way, Whitstable
(application VGA701)

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing area of land to be registered
as a Village Green (edged and hatched black)

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B: 
Photographs of the Application Site 

 

 

Page 25



APPENDIX B: 
Photographs of the Application Site 

 

 

Page 26



 

Application to register land at Duncan Down at Whitstable  
as a new Town or Village Green  

  
 

  
A report by the Head of PROW and Access Service to Kent County Council’s 
Regulation Committee Member Panel on Monday 1st December 2025.  
  
Recommendation: I recommend that the Applicant be informed that the 
application to register the land at Duncan Down at Whitstable has been 
accepted, and that the land subject to the application (as shown at Appendix A) 
be formally registered as a Town or Village Green.  
  

 
  
Local Member:  Mr. S. Heaver (Whitstable West)    Unrestricted item  

 
  
Introduction  
  
1. The County Council has received an application to register land at Duncan Down at 

Whitstable as a new Town or Village Green from Hyde Housing Association Ltd. 
(“the Applicant”). The application, made on 18th October 2024, was allocated the 
application number VGA699.  

  
Procedure  
  
2. Traditionally, Town and Village Greens have derived from customary law and until 

recently it was only possible to register land as a new Town or Village Green where 
certain qualifying criteria were met: i.e. where it could be shown that the land in 
question had been used ‘as of right’ for recreational purposes by the local residents 
for a period of at least 20 years.  

  
3. However, a new provision has been introduced by the Commons Act 2006 which 

enables the owner of any land to apply to voluntarily register the land as a new 
Village Green without having to meet the qualifying criteria. Section 15 states: “(8) 
The owner of any land may apply to the Commons Registration Authority to register 
the land as a town or village green.  

(9) An application under subsection (8) may only be made with the consent of 
any relevant leaseholder of, and the proprietor of any relevant charge over, the 
land.”  

  
4. Land which is voluntarily registered as a Town or Village Green under section 15(8) 

of the Commons Act 2006 enjoys the same level of statutory protection as that of 
all other registered greens and local people will have a guaranteed right to use the 
land for informal recreational purposes in perpetuity. This means that once the land 
is registered it cannot be removed from the formal Register of Town or Village 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



 

Greens (other than by statutory process) and must be kept free of development or 
other encroachments.  

  
5. In determining the application, the County Council must consider very carefully the 

relevant legal tests. In the present case, it must be satisfied that the applicant  
is the owner of the land and that any necessary consents have been obtained (e.g. 
from a tenant or the owner of a relevant charge). Provided that these tests are met, 
then the County Council is under a duty to grant the application and register the 
land as a Town or Village Green.  

  
The Case  
  
Description of the land  
  
6. The land subject to this application (“the Application Site”) consists of an area of 

mixed grassland and woodland, of approximately 31.5 acres (12.7 hectares) in 
size, known locally as part of Duncan Down at Whitstable.  
  

7. A plan of the Application Site is attached at Appendix A, with photographs of it at 
Appendix B.  

  
Background  

  
8. The area of land subject to the current application forms part of a much wider area 

of undeveloped downland, the majority of which is already registered as Village 
Green (as a result of successive applications over many years from local 
residents). This land provides both a valuable recreational facility for the local 
community and an important wildlife habitat. The area as a whole is managed by 
a voluntary group established in 1992 known as the Friends of Duncan Down, who 
work in partnership with Canterbury City Council.  
  

9. The latest application seeks to register the majority of the remaining area of 
downland so that it can be afforded the same protections against future 
development as the areas already registered as Village Green, and has come 
about as a result of longstanding negotiations between the Friends of Duncan 
Down and the developer of the neighbouring ‘Whitstable Heights’ residential estate 
(to the east of the Application Site). These negotiations culminated in the developer 
being required, as part of the planning permission, to provide some 40 acres of 
land for community use, of which a small area was to be used for amenity 
purposes, car parking and allotments, and the remaining land was to be formally 
registered as a Village Green.  

  
Notice of Application  
  
10. As required by the regulations, Notice of the application was published on the 

County Council’s website.  
  

Page 28



 

11. In response to the consultation (which took place prior to the 2025 elections), the 
previous County Councillor for the area (Mr. M. Dance) wrote in support of the 
application, as did Mr. A. Clark on behalf of the Friends of Duncan Down.  

  
Ownership of the land  
  
12. The entirety of the Application Site is registered to Hyde Housing Association Ltd.  

under land Registry Title TT96256.  
  
13. There are no other interested parties (e.g. leaseholders or owners of relevant 

charges) named on the Register of Title in respect of the Application Site.  
  
The ‘locality’  
  
14. DEFRA’s view is that once land is registered as a Town or Village Green, only the 

residents of the locality have the legal right to use the land for the purposes of 
lawful sports and pastimes. It is therefore necessary to identify the locality in which 
the users of the land reside.   

  
15. A locality for these purposes normally consists of a recognised administrative area 

(e.g. civil parish or electoral ward) or a cohesive entity (such as a village or housing 
estate).  

  
16. In previous applications involving land at Duncan Down, the Canterbury City 

Council electoral ward of Gorrell has been used as the qualifying locality for the 
purposes of Village Green registration. This is a legally recognised administrative 
unit with defined boundaries that would, similarly, constitute a qualifying locality for 
the purposes of this application.  

  
Conclusion  
  
17. As stated at paragraph 3 above, the relevant criteria for the voluntary registration 

of land as a new Town or Village Green under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 
2006 requires only that the County Council is satisfied that the land is owned by 
the applicant. There is no need for the applicant to demonstrate use of the land ‘as 
of right’ for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes over a particular period.  

  
18. It can be concluded that all the necessary criteria concerning the voluntary 

registration of the land as a Village Green have been met.   
  
Recommendation  
  
19. I recommend that the Applicant be informed that the application to register the land 

at Duncan Down at Whitstable has been accepted, and that the land subject to the 
application (as shown at Appendix A) be formally registered as a Town or Village 
Green.  
   

  

Page 29



 

Accountable Officer:   
Mr. Graham Rusling – Tel: 03000 413449 or Email: graham.rusling@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer:  
Ms. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 03000 413421 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk  
  
Appendices  
  
APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site  
APPENDIX B – Photographs of the application site 

Page 30



VG124

VG232

VG240

VG256

VG262

610750

610750

611000

611000

611250

611250

16
45

00

16
45

00

16
47

50

16
47

50

16
50

00

16
50

00

16
52

50

16
52

50

²
Scale 1:4000

@ A4

Proposed Village Green at 
Duncan Down, Whitstable

(application VGA699)

NB. Existing Village Greens are shown 
coloured green and numbered accordingly

Thanet W
ay A2990

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing area of land to be registered
as a Village Green (edged and hatched black)

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B: 
Photographs of the Application Site 

 

 

Page 33



APPENDIX B: 
Photographs of the Application Site 

 

 

Page 34



APPENDIX B: 
Photographs of the Application Site 

 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Application to register land on the south side of Quantock Drive at Ashford as a new Town or Village Green
	The application site
	Appendix A - Plan showing application site
	Appendix B - Photographs of the application site
	Appendix C - Summary of the user evidence

	4 Application to register land at Trilby Way at Whitstable as a new Town or Village Green
	Introduction
	Procedure
	The Case
	Conclusion
	Recommendation
	Appendices
	Appendix A - Plan showing application site
	Appendix B - Photographs of the application site

	5 Application to register land at Duncan Down at Whitstable as a new Town or Village Green
	Introduction
	Procedure
	The Case
	Description of the land
	Background
	Notice of Application
	Ownership of the land
	The ‘locality’

	Conclusion
	Recommendation
	Appendices
	Appendix A - Plan showing application site
	Appendix B - Photographs of the application site


